IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 18-2183
Monroe County No. LALA003789

LEMARTEC ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION n/k/a LEMARTEC
CORPORATION

Third-Party Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

ADVANCE CONVEYING TECHNOLOGIES, LLC.
Third-Party Defendant-Appellee,

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR
MONROE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN TELLEEN

**THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S
FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mark L. Tripp AT0007897
Andrew C. Johnson AT0004012
Thomas M. Boes AT0001048
Robert J. Thole AT0011347
801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3700
Des Moines, IA 50309-8004
Phone: (515) 243-4191
Fax: (515) 246-5808
E-Mail: tripp.mark@bradshawlaw.com
E-Mail: johnson.andrew@bradshawlaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. ACT is not Entitled to Claim Preclusion

- 1. ACT's Failure to Object During the Pendency of Simultaneous Lawsuits Waived Claim Preclusion under this Court's *Noel* Ruling**

Case Law

Bertran v. Glens Falls Ins. Co., 232 N.W.2d 527 (Iowa 1975)
Brown v. Lockwood, 76 A.D.2d 721 (N.Y.A.D. 1980)
Clements v. Airport Authority of Washoe County, 69 F.3d 321 (9th Cir. 1995)
Fischer v. City of Sioux City, 654 N.W.2d 544 (Iowa 2002)
Nationwide Ins. Co. v. Steigerwalt, 255 N.E.2d 570 (Ohio 1970)
Noel v. Noel, 334 N.W.2d 146 (Iowa 1983)
Pagel v. Notbohm, 186 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1971)
Rees v. City of Shenandoah, 628 N.W.2d 77 (Iowa 2004)
Robbins v. Heritage Acres, 578 N.W.2d 262 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998)
Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc., 641 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2002)
Sallee v. Stewart, 827 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2013)
Swisher & Cohrt v. Yardarm, Inc., 236 N.W.2d 297 (Iowa 1975)

Other Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)
18 Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Edward H. Cooper, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 4409 (3d ed. 2017)
42 C.J.S. Indemnity § 54 (2005)
28 U.S.C.A. § 1367(b)

- 2. ACT's Claim Preclusion Argument Is Substantively Wrong Because the Doctrine Does Not Apply to Claims Arising After Filing of the First Complaint.**

Case Law

Arnevik v. University of Minnesota Board of Regents, 642

Baker Group, L.C. v. Burlington North & Santa Fe Railway Co., 228 F.3d 883 (8th Cir. 2000)

Bank of New York v. First Millennium, Inc., 607 F.3d 905 (2d Cir. 2010)

Becker v. Central States Health and Life Co., 431 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1988)

Bennett v. MC No. 619, Inc., 586 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 1998)

Braunschweig v. Fahrenkrog, 773 N.W.2d 888 (Iowa 2009)

Brown v. Lockwood, 76 A.D.2d 721 (N.Y.A.D. 1980)

Care Institute, Inc.-Roseville v. City of Ramsey, 612 N.W.2d 443 (Minn. 2000)

Evjen v. Brooks, 372 N.W.2d 494 (Iowa 1985)

Hill v. Joseph Ryerson, Inc., 268 S.E.2d 296 (W.Va. 1980)

Howard v. City of Coos Bay, 871 F.3d 1032 (9th Cir. 2017)

Iowa Coal Mining Co. v. Monroe County, 555 N.W.2d 418 (Iowa 1996)

Israel v. Farmers Mutual Insurance Association, 339 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1983)

Kaydon Acquisition Corp. v. Custum Manufacturing, Inc., 301 F. Supp. 2d 945 (N.D. Iowa), *order clarified on reconsideration*, 317 F. Supp. 2d 896 (N.D. Iowa 2004)

Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corp., 349 U.S. 322 (1955)

Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc., 593 B.R. 166 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2018)

Leuchtenmacher v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 460 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa 1990)

Lowery Investments Corp. v. Stephens Industries, 395 N.W.2d 850 (Iowa 1986)

Manning v. City of Auburn, 953 F.2d 1355 (11th Cir. 1992)

Minch Family LLLP v. Buffalo-Red River Watershed Dist., 628 F.3d 960 (8th Cir. 2010)

Mitchell v. City of Moore, 218 F.3d 1190 (10th Cir. 2000)

Morgan v. Covington Township, 648 F.3d 172 (3d Cir. 2011)

Nelson v. American Family Insurance Group, 651 N.W.2d 499 (Minn. 2002)

Nationwide Insurance Co. v. Steigerwalt, 255 N.E.2d 570 (Ohio 1970)

Noel v. Noel, 334 N.W.2d 146 (Iowa 1983)

Pagel v. Notbohm, 186 N.W.2d 638 (Iowa 1971)

Peda v. Fort Dodge Animal Health, Inc., 293 F. Supp. 2d 973 (N.D. Iowa 2003)

Proctor v. LeClaire, 715 F.2d 402 (2d Cir. 2013)

Rawe v. Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Co., 462 F.3d 521 (6th Cir. 2006)

SCAC Transport v. SS Danaos, 845 F.2d 1157 (2d Cir. 1988)

Sallee v. Stewart, 827 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2013)

Smith v. Potter, 513 F.3d 781 (7th Cir. 2008)

Villarreal v. United Fire & Casualty Co., 873 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2016)
Walls v. Jacob North Printing Co., 618 N.W.2d 282 (Iowa 2000)
West v. Wessels, 534 N.W.2d 396 (Iowa 1995)
Westway Trading Corp. v. River Terminal Corp., 314 N.W.2d 398 (Iowa 1982)
Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt, 136 S.Ct. 2292, 195 L.Ed.2d 665 (2016), as revised (June 27, 2016)
Window Specialists, Inc. v. Forney Enterprises, Inc., 26 F. Supp. 3d 52 (D.D.C. 2014)
Young-Henderson v. Spartanburg Area Mental Health Ctr., 945 F.2d 770 (4th Cir. 1991)

Other Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)
Restatement (Second) Judgments § 26

3. ACT Failed to Establish the Elements of Claim Preclusion Because the State Suit is Materially Distinguishable from the Federal Suit Case Law

B&B Asphalt Co., v. T.S. McShane Co., 242 N.W.2d 279 (Iowa 1976)
Geneva Corporate Finance v. G.B.E. Liquidation Corp., 598 N.W.2d 331 (Iowa Ct. App. 1999)
Iowa Coal Mining Co. v. Monroe County, 555 N.W.2d 418 (Iowa 1996)
Leuchtenmacher v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 460 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa 1990)
Mach v. Wells Concrete Products Co., 866 N.W.2d 921 (Minn. 2015)
Pavone v. Kirke, 807 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 2011)
Phoenix Finance Corp. v. Iowa-Wisconsin Bridge Co., 237 Iowa 165, 20 N.W.2d 457 (1945)
Villarreal v. United Fire & Casualty Co., 873 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2016)
Westway Trading Corp. v. River Terminal Corp., 314 N.W.2d 398 (Iowa 1982)
Whalen v. Connelly, 621 N.W.2d 681 (Iowa 2000)

Other Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)

II. ACT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ISSUE PRECLUSION BECAUSE THE ISSUES INVOLVED ARE DIFFERENT

Case Law

American Family Mutual Insurance Co. v. Allied Mutual Insurance Co., 562 N.W.2d 159 (Iowa 1997)
Bandstra v. Covenant Reformed Church, 913 N.W.2d 19 (Iowa 2018)
Becker v. Central States Health and Life Co., 431 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1988)
City of Johnston v. Christenson, 718 N.W.2d 290 (Iowa 2006)
Comes v. Microsoft Corp., 709 N.W.2d 114 (Iowa 2006)
Evjen v. Brooks, 372 N.W.2d 494 (Iowa 1985)
Fifth Third Bancorp. v. Dudenhoeffer, 134 S. Ct. 2459 (2014)
Fischer v. City of Sioux City, 654 N.W.2d 544 (Iowa 2002)
Israel v. Farmers Mutual Insurance Association, 339 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1983)
Johnson v. Florida, 348 F.3d 1334 (11th Cir. 2003)
Kaydon Acquisition Corp. v. Custum Manufacturing, Inc., 301 F. Supp. 2d 945 (N.D. Iowa), *order clarified on reconsideration*, 317 F. Supp. 2d 896 (N.D. Iowa 2004)
Leuchtenmacher v. Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 460 N.W.2d 858 (Iowa 1990)
Pfeil v. State Street Bank & Trust Co., 671 F.3d 585 (6th Cir. 2012)
Soults Farms, Inc. v. Schafer, 797 N.W.2d 92 (Iowa 2011)
Third Nat'l Bank v. Stone, 174 U.S. 432 (1899)
U.S. Gypsum Co. v. Indiana Gas Co., Inc., 350 F.3d 623 (7th Cir. 2003)
Villarreal v. United Fire & Casualty Co., 873 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2016)
Winger v. CM Holdings, L.L.C., 881 N.W.2d 433 (Iowa 2016)
Winnebago Industries, Inc. v. Haverly, 727 N.W.2d 567 (Iowa 2006)

Other Authorities

Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(1)
Restatement (Second) Judgments § 26

ROUTING STATEMENT

This interlocutory appeal presents novel questions of law related to both claim preclusion and issue preclusion. As such, it should be routed to the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is an appeal raising important and novel issues at the intersection of indemnity and *res judicata*. *Res judicata* is the overall name for the related common law doctrines of claim preclusion (in which final judgment in one case forecloses any future claims that should have been included) and issue preclusion (also known as collateral estoppel, which prevents an issue, having been litigated once, from being litigated in the future in that identical form). Indemnity is a common law or contractual right in which a litigant seeks to “pass-through” liability it incurs to a third party. As such, indemnity serves as a conduit by shifting liability for a given cause of action to a third party; the critical aspect of indemnity is the underlying liability to be shifted. Here, summary judgment has left Lemartec Engineering & Construction n/k/a Lemartec Corporation (“Lemartec”), unable to seek indemnity from its subcontractor, Advance Conveying Technologies, LLC (“ACT”), for defects claimed by the end user of a conveyor designed and fabricated by ACT. That

summary judgment misconstrued precedential and complex issues relating to the interaction between these two important doctrines.

Although this is not a fact appeal, the background must be set out before the issues make sense. Lemartec was one of several subcontractors involved in the construction of a hundred million dollar chlor alkali plant in Eddyville, Iowa (the “Project”). Lemartec itself subcontracted the design/manufacture of a salt conveyor system at the Project to ACT, and also the installation of that conveyor to Southland Process Group, LLC (“SPG”). The conveyor work encountered problems, overruns, and delays leading to a diversity federal lawsuit among Lemartec, ACT and SPG. Lemartec agreed to pay SPG in excess of its contract price to account for extra work and delays incurred by SPG in correcting deficiencies in some of the parts shipped by ACT. By way of example, a “deficiency” in this context might have been two metal plates with bolt-holes that did not line up, causing SPG to incur the time and expense to re-drill them. The federal suit was exclusively concerned with who was responsible for correcting and paying for issues necessary to get the conveyor in shape to be turned over to the customer.

The conveyor was ultimately turned over to the customer. Following the completion and turnover of the conveyor, the conveyor allegedly began

experiencing a separate set of issues. Thus, while the federal suit was pending, the end user of the Project, HF Chlor-Alkali, LLC, (“HFCA”) instituted a state-court action involving multiple other contractors and subcontractors alleging that it uncovered latent defects in the entire Project’s construction, including the conveyor.¹ Lemartec again implied ACT seeking, *inter alia*, indemnification if the end user proved any defects in the final product.

ACT won the federal suit and secured a judgment for over \$300,000 in unpaid contract price and that specifically excused it from indemnifying Lemartec “for what Lemartec paid to SPG, the original plaintiff in this case.” (App. pp. 686–687). Then, despite never complaining about facing two suits, and never having pled *res judicata* in either suit, ACT sought summary judgment in this case based on that doctrine.

The trial court granted claim preclusion in the face of procedural and substantive failures. Procedurally, ACT was barred from seeking claim preclusion by this Court’s decision in *Noel v. Noel*, 334 N.W.2d 146 (Iowa 1983) recognizing a special rule for simultaneous lawsuits from the Restatement of Judgments. Where—as here—the two suits are pending at

¹ The end user (HFCA) sued its general contractor, a company called Conve, and Conve implied Lemartec, with which it had a contract. For simplicity, this brief will refer to the end-user claims without referencing Conve in every instance.

the same time, a defendant must object to claim-splitting and seek a procedural remedy. If no remedy is sought, a defendant will be deemed to have waived claim preclusion so that it cannot be asserted in the second case. Here, ACT never pled or even so much as objected to *res judicata* in either case until the federal case concluded. ACT then invoked it by motion (itself plainly barred when the defense has not been pled) in the state case. Every authority on point prevents this, and ACT supplied the trial court with a thoroughly unavailing excuse that, because Lemartec never notified it of claim splitting, it did not have to object. There is no such requirement in *Noel*, the Restatement, or elsewhere. Those authorities squarely place the onus on a defendant who perceives prejudicial claim splitting to address it, if at all, when something can be done about it. They simultaneously bar raising it as a “gotcha” tactic once the first suit concludes. Under binding authority that is on “all fours,” ACT waived claim preclusion by failing to timely address it.

Substantively, ACT cannot secure claim preclusion because the end-user indemnity claim in state court did not accrue until *after* the federal complaint had been filed. The date of filing is a bright-line cutoff in virtually all jurisdictions designed to short-circuit complex questions of whether a complaint should (or could) be amended to add claims that crop up after the

initial complaint. Unlike *Noel*, this rule is not yet formalized in Iowa. But at least seven federal circuits and several states recognize a bright-line rule. The rule obviates the need for speculative inquiries into whether and when a plaintiff should have amended to account for new facts, and whether such amendment would have been allowed. This Court should adopt that rule, and its application here is clear. ACT did its best to confuse the issue as if the “claim” or issue was as broad as the availability of any indemnity for any reason. But, returning to doctrine, indemnity is only an empty vessel that conveys an underlying liability or claim from one party to another. Here, in state court, the “indemnity” at issue was responsibility for the end-user’s claimed latent defects. According to multiple authorities, *that* indemnity did not arise until HFCA asserted it—some thirteen months after the federal suit was filed. It cannot be subject to claim preclusion under the federal/multi-state rule that this Court should adopt.

It is this same doctrinal confusion that ACT exploited to secure issue preclusion. The critical problem is that ACT prevailed upon the trial court to characterize the “issue” as “indemnity” in general. But the issue cannot be construed so broadly. Indemnity for the damages sought by SPG (again, the installer) and HFCA (the end user) for different time periods are entirely distinct such that the federal judgment no more decided HFCA’s complaints

than it adjudicated some hypothetical tort by a worker who might later be injured on the ACT-made conveyor. HFCA listed its complaints via interrogatory answers only after the federal judgment, and it included alleged deficiencies such as corroded buckets and malfunctioning electronics. Not a single one of these allegations was so much as mentioned, let alone resolved, in federal court.

Unable to point to the resolution of specific complaints, ACT prevailed upon the district court to treat the issue as “indemnity” for the overall “transaction.” Were this correct, the seller of products who challenged a manufacturer’s contractual performance, and lost, would be issue-precluded from seeking indemnity if purchasers later uncovered a dangerous, latent defect. Indemnification provisions are not intended to cover only the first event; there are frequently multiple distinct causes of action that can arise under a single indemnity provision. The liability of Lemartec to its installer (SPG) for extra work needed to install the conveyor is not the same as the liability of Lemartec to resolve complaints by the end user (HFCA) in the event the conveyor manifests different problems after the turn-over. When it comes to indemnity, then, this Court needs to clarify issue preclusion law to make clear that the issue is not just “indemnity” for the entire transaction but rather indemnity for discrete liabilities to discrete

third parties. What matters is *not* the “vessel” carrying the liability to a third party, but rather the specific liability being transferred to the third party.

Overall, then, this case threatens the integrity of Iowa’s common law of *res judicata* in a way destined to foment injustice. If ACT’s position is accepted, Lemartec will be deemed to have forfeited valuable indemnity rights because it let a federal court resolve a modest dispute among its indemnitor (ACT), the installer (SPG), and Lemartec about overruns and delays during installation. Going forward, anyone owed indemnification would be forced to do the impossible—raise all potential future claims justifying indemnification when the first problem is sued on—whether known or unknown—or risk losing all future benefit. That is just not how indemnity—a doctrine that covers liability for long-hidden latent defects, among others—works. This Court should intervene to clarify Iowa *res judicata* doctrine such that Lemartec’s understanding—that discrete pieces of indemnity can be subject to suit as they arise—is recognized, consistent with federal and multistate law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Nature of the Case

This case involves the alleged failed expectations and construction defects in a hundred-million-dollar chlor-alkali plant in Eddyville, Iowa (the

“Project”) and includes numerous parties involved in construction of the Project. (See Appendix, pp. 13–14 at ¶17) Most relevant to this appeal, Third-Party Plaintiff Lemartec, a subcontractor involved in erecting a salt conveyor system for the plant, sued one of its own subcontractors, Third-Party Defendant ACT seeking recovery and/or indemnification of any amounts Lemartec may be found to owe as a result of any deficiencies in the conveyor system alleged by the customer, HFCA. (App. pp. 66–70)

B. Procedural History

Lemartec and ACT were also parties to a lawsuit in federal court regarding certain aspects of the Project. In that case, another of Lemartec’s subcontractors, SPG sued both Lemartec and ACT. (App. pp. 372–434) Lemartec had retained SPG to install the conveyor system that ACT had designed and manufactured. SPG’s suit in federal court was to recover costs resulting from delays and alleged pre-completion problems with some of the parts of the conveyor system. (App. p. 514 at ¶11; App. p. 658) Lemartec settled with SPG, and Lemartec’s claims against ACT were litigated in a bench trial. The court issued a judgment to the effect that Lemartec was responsible for the pre-completion delays and damages. (App. 683–689) Lemartec is currently appealing that ruling to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit. (Lemartec Notice of Appeal to 8th Cir.)

ACT had never, at any point, claimed that the federal action in any way overlapped with this case, and it did not include a *res judicata* affirmative defense in its Answer in this case, even though the federal action had been pending for over a year and a half when its Answer was filed. (App. 117–132) Nevertheless, upon obtaining judgment in the federal case, ACT rushed to the district court below and sought summary judgment on the basis that the federal court’s resolution of SPG’s pre-completion claims precluded inquiry into the separate, post-completion claims brought by the customer of the Project. (App. 146–169)

C. Disposition of the Case in the District Court

The district court granted summary judgment to ACT, accepting its arguments that the federal action had both a claim preclusive and issue preclusive effect in this case. (App. p. 355) Further, the district court rejected Lemartec’s arguments that ACT’s summary judgment should be denied on multiple procedural grounds resulting from its belated “gotcha” assertion of the *res judicata* defense. (App. pp. 347–350) This is an interlocutory appeal from that Order of the Iowa District Court for Monroe County granting summary judgment in favor of ACT.

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

A. Conveyor System Design & Installation

On May 17, 2013, HFCA entered into a written agreement with Conve & AVS, Inc. (“Conve”) to construct a chlor-alkali manufacturing facility (the “Project”) in Eddyville, Iowa. (App. p. 12 at ¶9) Conve subcontracted various tasks on the Project. On August 1, 2013, Conve hired Lemartec to design and build the physical plant for the Project, which contained the salt conveyor system (the “conveyor system” or “conveyor”). (App. p. 59 at ¶182) Lemartec, in turn, subcontracted part of the work to two other entities. On December 18, 2013, Lemartec entered into a purchase order with ACT for the design and manufacture of the conveyor system (the “Purchase Order”). (App. p. 101 at ¶13; App. pp. 655, 658) Then, on October 24, 2014, Lemartec entered into a subcontract with SPG for the installation and erection of the conveyor system that ACT was designing and manufacturing. (App. p. 373 at ¶8; App. p. 101 at ¶13; App. pp. 655, 658)

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