**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**NO. 18-2183**

---

**LEMARTEC ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION n/k/a  
LEMARTEC CORPORATION  
Third-Party Plaintiff-Appellant,**

**vs.**

**ADVANCE CONVEYING TECHNOLOGIES, LLC,  
Third-Party Defendant-Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR MONROE  
COUNTY**

**THE HONORABLE JOHN TELLEEN  
MONROE COUNTY NO. LALA003789**

---

**Third-Party Defendants-Appellee's Advance Conveying Technologies,  
LLC, Final Brief**

---

**KEVIN J. CASTER    AT0001468  
DANA L. OXLEY     AT0005917  
SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL, P.L.C.  
500 U.S. Bank Bldg., P.O. Box 2107  
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406  
PHONE:    (319) 365-9461

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

- “the provisions where ACT agreed that its ‘work shall be of quality construction’” (*Id.*);
- The provision “that the ‘Work shall comply with applicable code requirements . . . [and] shall be 100% operable and functional and be compatible in all respects with the other portions of the Work’” (*Id.*);  
and
- the provision in which ACT “Guarantee[d] the work for 18 months after delivery of Equipment or 12 months after Start-up, whichever is sooner” (*Id.* 496).

After avoiding summary judgment, Lemartec amended its counterclaims to include substantive claims for breach of contract, breach of implied warranty of workmanlike construction, breach of implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose, and breach of express warranty (App. 541-45), each of which Lemartec had relied on as providing a basis to support ACT’s obligation to indemnify Lemartec. Lemartec litigated each

of these substantive claims in the Federal Trial. (App. 600-08, Lemartec Proposed Ruling.)

With respect to the source of Lemartec’s claim for implied contractual indemnity, Lemartec identified the litigated issues as whether ACT breached the independent duty “to provide the conveying system components in accordance with the construction drawings and specifications.” (*Id.* 607.)

With respect to the source of Lemartec’s claim for equitable indemnity, Lemartec identified the litigated issues as whether “ACT breached the implied warranty of merchantability and the implied warranty of fitness for a particular purpose”, based on those same substantive claims. (*Id.* 607-08.)

Following trial, the Federal Court expressly found in ACT’s favor on each claim. “Lemartec failed to prove that ACT breached the purchase order. ... Moreover, Lemartec failed to prove that ACT breached any implied or express warranty of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.” (App. 686.)

It was within this context that the Business Court concluded that “the issue of indemnity rights arising under the Purchase Order has been raised and litigated in the prior federal action.” (App. 351.) The Business Court explained: “Throughout litigation between the parties in federal court, the primary contention was whether ACT’s design and fabrication of the salt

conveyor system breached the terms of the Purchase Order or violated any express, implied, or equitable warranties contained in that agreement.” (*Id.* (emphasis added).) The Business Court properly concluded that “Lemartec cannot prevail on its indemnity action because the crucial issue of whether ACT breached the duties it owed under the Purchase Order has already been decided against Lemartec.” (App. 354 (emphasis added).)

With those issues litigated and decided, Lemartec is unable to identify a source of either implied contractual indemnity or equitable indemnity to support its indemnity claim asserted in this State Court case. Issue preclusion defeats Lemartec’s State Court indemnity claim. *See Soult’s Farms*, 797 N.W.2d at 104; *D.J.I.*, 545 N.W.2d at 875; *Harrison*, 440 N.W.2d at 402.

*U.S. Gypsum Co. v. Indiana Gas Co.*, 350 F.3d 623 (7th Cir. 2003) (cited by Lemartec) supports ACT on this point. While the Fifth Circuit explained the district court’s characterization of the issue as “the improper creation and operation of ProLiance” was too broad, *id.* 629, it recognized that a concrete finding “that ProLiance lacks market power” would have defeated USG’s antitrust claim, because that claim requires a finding that the party holds market power, *id.* 630. However, the Court was unable to locate that finding in the agency’s prior decision. *Id.* Here, the Federal Court did

make concrete findings that defeat Lemartec’s indemnity claim by removing any basis to find that ACT owed a duty to indemnify Lemartec under the Purchase Order.

The two cases involve the same issue—whether ACT breached any duty that would give rise to an indemnity claim by Lemartec. The Federal Court ruled in ACT’s favor on that issue, and Lemartec’s indemnity claim in this case is precluded.

**E. Lemartec’s attempt to limit the Federal case to “indemnity for alleged pre-completion delays and deficiencies” ignores the breadth of the substantive claims litigated and decide in that case.**

In the Business Court, Lemartec attempted to distinguish the cases by characterizing the federal case as the “delay case” and the state case as the “defect case”. (App. 179, ¶¶1-2.) The Business Court rejected Lemartec’s distinction based on significant evidence of defects actually litigated in the Federal trial. (App. 352-53 (Order); App. 193-97 (ACT MSJ Reply).) Lemartec now attempts to re-characterize the Federal case as involving “pre-completion” defects and the state case as involving “post-completion” defects. (Proof Br. 62.)

Lemartec’s assertion on appeal that its State Court action is limited to “post-completion” defects is directly refuted by its State Court breach of

contract claim. In its October 26, 2017 amended pleading, Lemartec claims that ACT:

- a) Failed to deliver the components for the salt conveyor system supply work in a timely fashion;
- b) Failed to provide properly fabricated components for the salt conveyor system supply work;
- c) Failed to properly design and engineer the salt conveyor system supply;
- d) Failed to provide a salt conveyor supply system that was in compliance with applicable code requirements, the reasonable intent of the architect/engineer, that were one hundred percent operable and functional and that complied with the project specifications and drawings;
- e) Breached its guarantee made in conjunction with the purchase order.

(App. 104-05, Lemartec Petition, Count III.) Just like its attempted distinction in the Business Court, Lemartec’s new purported distinction between the cases is contrary to the record.

Lemartec attempts to use the new distinction to support its argument that the two cases involve “a distinct set of alleged defects that allegedly arose during a different time period.” (Proof Br. 62.) It also argues the “issue” as defined by Lemartec was never raised in Federal Court because “the right to indemnification does not fully mature until the indemnitee’s liability is fixed by settlement or judgment.” (*Id.* 64.) Neither of these arguments passes scrutiny.

**1. The alleged defects in both cases are based on the same work performed by ACT pursuant to the same Purchase Order.**

Lemartec relies on the differences between the first-party plaintiffs to argue that this case is analogous to cases holding that issue preclusion does not apply where the second suit involves a later time period and different factual circumstances. (*Id.* 63-64, n.13.) The cases cited by *Lemartec* do not support Lemartec's position.

In *Pfeil v. State St. Bank & Tr.*, 671 F.3d 585, 560-61 (6th Cir.2012), abrogated on other grounds, *Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer*, 573 U.S. 409 (2014), the second case alleged an ERISA Plan Manager breached fiduciary duties by making imprudent investments in General Motors after July 15, 2008, when GM announced a restructuring plan based on significant prior quarter losses. The first suit alleged the Manager breached fiduciary duties by failing to properly diversify funds within the Plan. *See Young v. Gen. Motors Inv. Mgt. Corp.*, 325 Fed.Appx. 31, 32-33 (2d Cir.2009) (unpublished). The first case was dismissed on March 24, 2008 because the duty to diversify applies to the Plan as a whole, not individual funds. *Id.* Issue preclusion did not apply because the first case was dismissed before GM's July 15, 2008 announcement, upon which the second case was based. *Pfeil*, 671 F.3d 561.

In *Johnson v. Florida*, 348 F.3d 1334 (11th Cir.2003), the State sought to lift conditions contained in a Consent Decree related to operation of a state-run mental health facility. The district court had previously conducted a bench trial and “concluded that as of September 30, 1999, the State was providing a constitutionally adequate level of care.” *Johnson*, 348 F.3d at 1339. Three years later, the district court lifted all conditions except those related to placement of former patients in community programs because the state had not shown those violations would not recur. *Id.* The district court refused to apply issue preclusion to the conditions left in place because its observations about the level of care at the bench trial did not conclusively establish the level of care was constitutionally adequate three years later or that violations could not recur. *Id.* 1347. Affirming, the Eleventh Circuit found “[i]n the latter proceeding, the court was properly concerned not merely with whether the State had achieved compliance with constitutional standards at one point, but whether it was presently in compliance.” *Id.* 1348.

Here, ACT was not providing ongoing services; its work was complete before either lawsuit was filed. The Federal Court’s conclusion that ACT met all of its obligations under the Purchase Order was conclusive as to ACT’s work. That HFCA filed its discovery responses identifying

specific alleged defects in June 2018 does not change the fact that ACT had performed all of its obligations when the Federal Court tried Lemartec's breach of contract, breach of warranties, and indemnity claims against ACT.

Illustration 2 to from Restatement (Second) Judgments §27 is applicable here.

A brings an action against B for failure to deliver goods on January 1, 1972, in accordance with the terms of an installment contract. B defends on the basis that the contract should be rescinded because of A's fraud in obtaining it. After a trial on this issue, there is a verdict and judgment for A. Thereafter, A sues B for failure to deliver goods on June 1, 1972, in accordance with the same contract. B is precluded by the prior judgment from seeking rescission on the basis of fraud.

Restatement (Second) Judgments §27 (1982).

Using this illustration, Lemartec ("A" in the Illustration) brought a claim for indemnity against ACT ("B" in the Illustration) based on claims by SPG against Lemartec, and ACT defended on the basis that ACT owed Lemartec no obligation of indemnity because it satisfied all of its obligations upon which indemnity could be based. The Federal Court tried the issue of whether ACT satisfied all of its obligations and entered judgment for ACT. In Lemartec's second action against ACT for indemnity based on claims by HFCA against Lemartec, Lemartec is precluded from relitigating the issue of whether ACT satisfied its obligations upon which indemnity could be based.

Lemartec's distinction between "pre-completion defects" and "post-completion defects" does not change the fact that the Federal Court rejected the bases Lemartec relies on to claim ACT is subject to indemnity.

**2. When an indemnity claim "fully matures" has no bearing on the issue of the source of the right to seek indemnity.**

That an indemnity claim does not "fully mature" until liability is fixed does not change the elements of an indemnity claim or the right to bring an action. *Evjen*, 372 N.W.2d at 496-97 (while the right to enforce indemnity does not "accrue" until judgment against the indemnitee, the claim "comes into being ... the instant" the acts to support it occur). Further, as this Court held in *Israel*, even if indemnity crossclaims were not compulsory in the first-party claim, precluding application of claim preclusion in a second suit between defendants, issue preclusion still applies if the indemnity claim in the second case involves issues decided in the first case. *Israel*, 339 N.W.2d at 146-47 (affirming use of issue preclusion in indemnity claim where issues of whether the agent's negligence was passive and whether insurance policy should have been reformed were determined in prior claim as part of agent's defense to first-party plaintiff's claims against agent and insurance company).

That different first-party plaintiffs may be involved in the two cases does not change the fact that the indemnitee must identify a basis for its claim against the indemnitor. Lemartec attempts to hold ACT liable for indemnity in this State Court case based on ACT's obligations contained in the Purchase Order and its implied warranty obligations—the same obligations the Federal Court has already decided were satisfied by ACT. These are the issues—ACT's obligations under the Purchase Order and its satisfaction of those obligations—that have been decided and cannot be relitigated.

**III. Lemartec waived its appeal of the Business Court's dismissal of Counts III through VI where it fails to argue the Business Court erred in dismissing those claims.**

Throughout its brief, Lemartec argues only that its indemnity claims in the two actions involve different issues. Lemartec does not argue that its other claims for breach of contract and breach of various warranties in this State Court case (Counts III, IV, V, and VI) are not the same as the causes of action in the Federal Court case. Indeed, it would be difficult for Lemartec to argue otherwise, given the nearly verbatim allegations Lemartec made in both cases to support each of those other claims. (App. 201, Table A.) Lemartec likewise does not argue that its substantive claims (Counts III-VI) involve different issues than the Federal Court claims for purposes of issue

preclusion, addressing all of its arguments to its indemnification claim in Count I.

Lemartec has waived the issue of whether the Business Court properly found Counts III through VI barred by both claim and issue preclusion.

*Genetzky v. Iowa State U.*, 480 N.W.2d 858, 861 (Iowa 1992) (“Genetzky cites no authority and makes no argument in his brief as to any claimed error on this count. We hold that he waived error on this issue.”); *Gallagher, Langlas & Gallagher v. Burco*, 587 N.W.2d 615, 620 (Iowa App. 1998) (“Because we have found the statute of frauds applies, and the [plaintiff] has not raised the doctrine of promissory estoppel on appeal, [defendant]’s oral contract to pay the debt of his daughter may not be enforced. For these reasons, we reverse.”); IowaR.App.P. 14(a)(3) (“[F]ailure in the brief to state, to argue or to cite authority in support of an issue may be deemed waiver of that issue.”). The Business Court’s Ruling dismissing Counts III through VI should therefore be affirmed. *Id.*

Query what that does to Lemartec’s indemnity claim in this case. If this Court affirms dismissal of Counts III through VI (either for waiver or on the merits) but reverses dismissal of Count I for common law indemnity on the basis that somehow the claims or issues are different than those litigated in Federal Court, the Business Court will still be bound, under the law of the

case doctrine, to this Court’s affirmance of the dismissal of Lemartec’s substantive claims as precluded by the Federal Court’s Ruling. *United Fire & Cas. v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 612 N.W.2d 101,103–04 (Iowa2000) (where appellate court reversed district court’s finding that Colorado law precluded application of policy exclusion, district court erred on remand in permitting plaintiff to amend petition to relitigate the issue of whether Colorado law could apply, which was law of the case). The “issue” litigated in *United Fire* was whether a policy exclusion applied, and the appellate court reversed the district court’s conclusion that it did not apply under Colorado law. *Id.* 104. On remand, the district court erred in allowing an amendment to the pleadings to relitigate the issue—applicability of the exclusion—previously resolved on appeal. *Id.* 104.

Here, even if dismissal of Lemartec’s indemnity claim is reversed, the Business Court is still bound by law of the case as to the substantive claims. In other words, the issue decided in Counts III through VI—that ACT satisfied its obligations in the Purchase Order and breached no express or implied warranties owed to Lemartec—is law of this case on remand.

## Conclusion

The Federal Court's finding that ACT satisfied all obligations to Lemartec on which an indemnity claim could be based preclude its claims here.